RECEIVED 08-01-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2019AP787

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUANNE D. TOWNSEND,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief and Motion for Postconviction Discovery Entered by the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Hon. Joseph Wall Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000729

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 ballc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Duanne Townsend was convicted of 1st degree intentional homicide, 1st degree attempted homicide, and possession of a firearm by a felon. He shot Brandon Thomas, Latisha¹ and Jamal. Brandon died.

This appeal concerns Duanne's §974.06 motion, which argued that: (1) Attorney Dan Mitchell (trial counsel) conceded guilt over Duanne's objection in violation of his 6th Amendment autonomy rights, and (2) Attorney Basil Loeb's §809.30 postconviction motion ineffectively presented meritorious claims for ineffective assistance of trial counsel and a new trial in the interest of justice. Both the circuit court and this court of appeals condemned Loeb's motion for conclusory allegations, lack of legal authority, and violation of a court order.

Had Loeb performed effectively, the postconviction court would have learned what the jury should have heard. Duanne beat up Latisha's friend, Rocky, at her apartment. Afterwards, she, Brandon, Jamal and Rocky went to another friend's apartment, where Rocky heard Brandon call for a gun so he could kill Duanne and his family in revenge. Rocky heard Latisha agree with the plan. Brandon, Latisha and Jamal went with a gun to the apartment of Duanne's sister, Simone. They saw Duanne with a gun. They started arguing. They went inside. Jamal threatened Duanne and showed him his gun. Duanne started shooting at Jamal but hit Latisha twice in the chest because she was standing next to him. He shot Brandon because he charged him.

¹ Pursuant to §809.19(1)(g), this brief uses pseudonyms for the victims: Latisha for LT, Jamal for JW, and Rocky for RW or "Buck Wild."

Due to Mitchell's ineffectiveness, the jury instead heard that Duanne beat up Rocky. Later, Brandon called for a gun to protect everyone but did not get one. Brandon, Latisha, and Jamal just happened to walk by Simone's apartment, saw Duanne with a gun and went inside to talk to him—unarmed. Simone heard Jamal make threats about guns and saw him lift his shirt as if to flash one. Duanne started shooting. He shot Latisha, an unarmed female, 4 times—3 in the back. He also shot Jamal and Brandon. The jury observed Mitchell (trial counsel) promise to prove self-defense and then break that promise and concede Duanne's guilt (over Duanne's instruction). The jury heard Mitchell call his Simone "a liar." The jury also heard the State say they could convict Duanne of intentional conduct because he shot Latisha in the back.

This appeal also concerns Duanne's motion for postconviction discovery of Latisha's medical records, which neither Mitchell nor Loeb request. They will show that she testified falsely that she was shot in the back.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether Duanne is entitled to a new trial due to structural error—he was denied his 6th Amendment right to determine his own defense?

The circuit court answered "no."

2. Whether Duanne received ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel due to the way his lawyer briefed and presented meritorious claims for ineffective assistance of trial counsel and a new trial in the interest of justice to the circuit court during his direct appeal?

The circuit court answered "no" without a hearing.

3. Whether Duanne is entitled to postconviction discovery of Latisha's medical records to show that she testified falsely at trial and the State used her false testimony to argue that Duanne shot with intent rather than in self-defense.

The circuit court answered "no."

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument would be helpful because the procedural posture and facts of this case are complicated. Wis. Stat. §809.23. This appeal presents Wisconsin's first opportunity to address a claim of structural error under $McCoy\ v.\ Louisiana$, _U.S.__, 138 S.Ct. 1500 (2018). In addition, there do not appear to be any published decisions addressing a claim that a postconviction lawyer was ineffective in the way he briefed and presented a defendant's §809.30 postconviction motion. To provide the bench and bar with guidance on how to resolve these issues, the court of appeals should publish its opinion. Wis. Stat. §809.24.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

I. The people and places involved.

This case stems from interactions among 9 different people at three different locations.

- Duanne Townsend is the defendant.
- Antonio Stewart is Duanne's brother.
- Simone Stewart is Duanne's sister. The shooting at issue occurred in her apartment.
- April and Erica Brown are Duanne's and Antonio's girlfriends.

- Latisha was injured in the shooting.
- Rocky is Latisha's good friend. He was beat up at Latisha's apartment.
- Jamal is the godfather of Latisha's child. He was also injured in the shooting.
- Brandon Thomas was Latisha's cousin. He died in the shooting.
- Gregory Hemphill is also Latisha's friend. Brandon, Latisha, Jamal and Rocky were at Gregory's apartment when Brandon called for a gun.

II. The trial

A. Opening statements.

During opening arguments, the State told the jury that Duanne and Antonio beat up Rocky at Latisha's apartment. Jamal was also there, but he did not participate because he was drunk. Afterwards, Latisha, Jamal, and Rocky went to the home of Latisha's friend, Gregory, where Brandon (Latisha's cousin) joined them. Then Latisha, Jamal and Brandon headed to Latisha's apartment complex. They saw Duanne standing outside of Simone's apartment holding a 9-millimeter pistol with an extended clip. They decided to go talk with him, then entered Simone's the apartment where, after a heated discussion, Duanne shot Jamal, Latisha, and Brandon, who died from his wound. Police found Duanne's pistol and a brown and silver revolver at the scene. The State told the jury that the brown and silver revolver may have belonged to Brandon, but he never threatened Duanne with it. (R.270:22-26).

During his opening argument, Mitchell told the jury that Duanne acted in self-defense. He said that the fight with Rocky prompted Latisha, Jamal, and Brandon to arm themselves and go to Simone's apartment for revenge against Duanne and his family. Indeed, Duanne, Antonio, April, Erica, Simone, and her 3-year-old daughter were all in the apartment when Brandon, Latisha, and Jamal entered it with a gun. They put Duanne's family at risk. Mitchell told the jury: "The judge is going to talk to you at the end about the state of the law for self-defense in 2011. I ask that you pay very careful attention to that." (R.270:29). Mitchell likened Duanne to Clint Eastwood in *The Good, The Bad and The Ugly*. "[N]o one in his family gets injured or shot because he drew first." (R.270:30).

The trial spanned 4 days. The State presented testimony from Latisha, Jamal, Simone, April, numerous policemen, and state laboratory employees. The defense called no witnesses and offered no evidence.

B. Police testimony.

Detective Kevin Klemstein testified that he interviewed Latisha after the shooting. She told him that Brandon was wearing a brown hooded sweatshirt with its zipper open. Duanne shot her and Jamal, and they fell to the floor. Brandon jumped over them. As he ran out the door she could see Brandon's hand on his "Dirty Harry" gun. (R.273:95, 97-100).

Q. What did [Latisha] say Brandon had?

A. She said when Brandon Thomas jumped over them, he had his left hand inside the jacket that was open on his right side. And when he did this, and [sic] she could see what he described as being a chrome-colored gun with brown on it. (R.273:98-99; see also R.273:104)

Q. And what's [Brandon] doing while he's running and he's got his hand by this Dirty Harry gun?

A. Just trying to get out of the apartment, apartment 34. (R.273:99).

Detective Klemstein further testified that Latisha told him that she saw Duanne take 3 Ecstasy pills before the shooting. "She described them as two blue Jaguars and a yellow rolly, which are Ecstasy pills" he said. (R.273:103).

C. Latisha's testimony.

Latisha testified that Duanne and Antonio beat up Rocky at her apartment. Jamal was also there but he was drunk and asleep. Jamal did not make any threats to get his Mossburg gun. (R.271:124-127).

Latisha said that Brandon came to her apartment and then she, Brandon, Jamal, Rocky and her kids went to the home of her friend, Gregory. (R.271:126-128). There she heard Brandon on his phone asking: "Can someone come over here with a banger and assist us 'cause a dude just got jumped in my cousin's hallway and he felt as if they were comin' back to kill us." (R.271:129; see also R.271:130-132). Then Latisha, Brandon and Jamal decided to head home. They passed Simone's apartment along the way. (R.271:137-139, 150-152). They did not have a gun with them. However, they saw Duanne, Antonio, Erica, and Simone standing "congregatin', flashing pistols, outside, looking (R.271:135-138, 150-152). In particular, Latisha saw Duanne with a black 9 millimeter pistol with an extended clip. (R.271:135).

According to Latisha, Duanne asked them to come over to talk, so they did. (R.271:135; R.272:6). The conversation became heated because Duanne's group allegedly had accused Rocky of trying to hit Simone with a car and had been beaten him up. (R.272:8). Simone invited everyone into her apartment, so Latisha, Brandon, and Jamal went in—allegedly unarmed.

(R.272:7-11; 37-39, 50-52). At this point, the two groups were arguing over Rocky. (R.272:9).

Latisha testified that inside Simone's apartment Duanne told them to shut up because he had a gun. Jamal replied, "We don't care about your gun, once they gave you a gun they didn't stop making guns." He was like, "if I wanted to I could go get a Mossberg and blow you as well." (R.272:17). Latisha did not say that Jamal actually had a gun. (R.272:60). However, she admitted that Jamal's statement could have been perceived as a threat. (*Id*).

Latisha testified that she was standing facing Jamal trying to calm him down with her back to Duanne. Antonio was facing Duanne trying to calm him down. (R.272:17). That's when Duanne shot her in the back, and she fell down. Then Duanne shot Jamal. He fell next to her and covered her body with his. (R.272:21-24). Meanwhile, Brandon was "[s]tanding there with his hands up [in a surrender posture.]" (R.272:21-24). Latisha said that Brandon remained standing with his hands up while Duanne went in the hallway where he shot Jamal 4 to 5 more times, then returned to the apartment where Brandon hopped over Latisha and Jamal (who supposedly was just shot in the hall) as they lay on the floor:

Latisha denied ever telling Detective Klemstein that she saw a gun on Brandon. (R.272:25).

Q Ma'am, you told the detectives that [Brandon] had [a gun] in like his waistband or on his person, he didn't have it in his hands but he did have it on his person?

A. Actually, I didn't tell the detectives that he had it on his person because Brandon had on a leather jacket and it was zipped up, so I couldn't see if he had it on his person.

Q. So if he did you don't know?

- A. If he did I have no idea. (R.272:26-27).
- Q. So you don't recall telling any police detective that as [Brandon's] jumping out, a 38 or Dirty Harry gun drops out of his sweatshirt area?
- A. No. And I didn't speak to the police that long for even to make a full statement like that, so no. (R.272:52).

Latisha also qualified her statement that Duanne took Ecstasy before the shooting.

- Q. At some point . . . at the end of the evening you talked to the detectives about seeing Duanne popping some pills?
- A. Yeah, either him or his brother. I didn't necessarily say him, I said him or his brother. (R.272:42-43).
- Q. And before the shooting actually happens how much time before these rollers are consumed and the shooting takes place?
- A. I would say about ten . . . fifteen minutes, not even enough time for the rollers to kick in. (R.272:43).

Finally, Latisha testified that Duanne shot her "all over the right side of her body." (R.272:33). She was shot 4 times and 3 bullets remained inside her body, including one lodged in her sternum. (R.272:30). And when asked how she sustained *chest* wounds if she was shot from behind, she said that she was shot 4 times in the back and the bullets came into her chest and 3 of those bullets were still there. (R.272:35-36).

D. Jamal's testimony.

Jamal contradicted Latisha on several critical facts. He agreed that he was drunk and asleep during the fight with Rocky at Latisha's apartment. Contrary to Latisha's testimony, he said that when he woke up he told her that he was going to get his gun.

Q. And when you woke up, what did you do?

A. I woke up and everyone, they said, get on the floor. And I said what for? And they said, because somebody's coming back to shoot up the house. So, I said well, I will go and — I will go and get mine, because I don't want to be here naked.

Q. When you say naked are you talking about without clothing or without a firearm?

A. Without a firearm. (R.272:75).

Jamal said that he and Latisha went to Gregory's apartment. But contrary to Latisha, he denied that Brandon ever called for a gun. He also denied ever seeing Brandon with a gun that night.

Q. Okay, now, while you were over at [Gregory's] house, or at any time, this individual [Brandon], the man who died, did he have any discussions about getting a firearm?

A. No.

Q. Do you remember him ever talking about getting a firearm or making a phone call?

A. No.

Q. Do you know if he had a firearm?

A. No. (R.272:80-81).

Like Latisha, Jamal denied having a gun inside Simone's apartment. (R.272:82). But unlike Latisha, he testified that he never threatened to get one while inside Simone's apartment. He made that comment earlier in the day at Latisha's apartment.

I didn't—I didn't say this in [Simone's apartment.] I said this at [Latisha's] house when I first woke up and they told me to

get on the floor. That's when I mentioned about going to get the gun. (R.272:89).

Jamal said that he may have mentioned having a gun at his house. He couldn't remember. (R.272:89-90).

Whereas Latisha testified that the shooting began while she was facing Jamal trying to calm him down, Jamal recalled the situation differently. He was simply talking loudly with Antonio (not with Latisha) when Duanne started shooting. (R.272:93). Furthermore, Duanne shot him in the apartment, not in the hall. (R.272:94).

I just hear shots rang out and I found myself on the floor on top of [Latisha]. And as I look, I see Mr. Duanne come and stand over me and shoot me. And then he went back in the hallway because Brandon had—Brandon was the first person out of the apartment, Brandon was already gone. (R.272:93)

- Q. You don't know if [Brandon] jumped over you or anything?
- A. *He didn't jump over me*. He was gone when—when Mr. Duanne came and stand over me and shoot me Brandon was already gone. (R.272:94).

Jamal testified that he sustained 13 entry and exit wounds. Seven bullets remain in his body. (R.272:94-95).

E. Simone's testimony.

Simone and her daughter were in the apartment when the shooting occurred. She testified that when people started arguing she took her daughter into a bedroom.

- Q. Did you hear what they were yelling about?
- A. I heard [Jamal] saying that we have guns too. (R.272:114).

She did not see Jamal, Latisha or Brandon with a gun. But she heard Jamal saying "we have guns too." (R.272:114; R.273:14).

I come—I come out of my room because I'm wondering why they talking about guns and not talking. And I come out of the room and [Jamal] and my brother *are facing each other* and he has—[Jamal] has his shirt up, and--and next thing you know my brother cocked the gun back and he started shooting. Once he started shooting I took my baby in the other room and ran. (R.272:115). (Emphasis supplied).

Simone testified that Jamal lifted his shirt as if to show that he had a gun.

Q. Is he doing it in the fashion we often see people, like in TV or movies, I got a gun, or is he doing it, like, I'm taking a shirt off. I don't want to get it dirty in a fight.

A. Just like the first one you said. Like he moves, he just lifts it up—(R.273:12).

According to Simone, Duanne shot Jamal while Latisha was standing next to him. After everyone left, Simone found a silver revolver that she did not recognize on the floor. Duanne grabbed it and ran out the door. She and April (Duanne's girlfriend) began cleaning up blood. To protect Duanne, she told police that she saw Jamal with the silver gun in his waistband. She was convicted of obstruction but was sentenced to probation in exchange for testifying truthfully at trial. (R.273:9-11)

F. April's testimony.

April testified that she did not see Duanne "consume any Ecstasy." (R.273:36). She "did not know him to take pills like that." (*Id.*). The State charged April with a felony for cleaning up the scene of the shooting. It agreed to amend the charge to a

misdemeanor and not recommend jail in exchange for truthful testimony. (R.273:33).

G. Mitchell's advice and the self-defense instruction.

At the close of its case, the State argued that there was no evidence to support a self-defense instruction. (R.274: 43-46). The court asked: "Would it be reasonable for a jury to infer that [Duanne] shot because he thought [Jamal] was going to pull out the revolver and shoot him or somebody else in the room?" (R.274:46). The court noted that Brandon was dead, so if Latisha put the second gun on Brandon, "she can protect [Jamal]" who "was holding up his shirt as if to show he had a gun." (R.274:47).

The court observed:

I don't think there's anything in here which will allow me, as a matter of law, to say that the jury could not believe that [Jamal] was holding up his shirt showing a gun that wasn't in the room previously. (R.274:50).

The court thus gave instructions on self-defense, 1st and 2nd degree intentional homicide, 2nd degree reckless homicide, and 2nd degree reckless endangerment of safety. (R.274:50-51).

At that point, Mitchell conferred with Duanne about testifying. Duanne said that he wanted to testify that: (1) he shot at Jamal first because he was holding a gun and threatened to shoot him; (2) he hit Latisha in the chest by accident because she was standing next to Jamal; and (3) he shot Brandon because Brandon rushed at him. (R.227:241; App.161).

Mitchell told Duanne not to testify. He said it was unnecessary because the court had agreed to give the self-defense instruction, and he did not want the jury to hear Duanne's criminal record. Mitchell said he wanted to argue that Duanne was high on Ecstasy when he started shooting to show that

Duanne did not act with intent. Duanne told Mitchell that he had not taken Ecstasy before the shooting, and he did not want an Ecstasy defense. (R.227:241; App.162).

Duanne initially told the court that he would waive his right to testify, but then he asked for more time to consult Mitchell, who again advised him not to testify. Duanne followed his advice and waived his right to testify. (R.274:42-43, 53-59).

When advising Duanne, Mitchell never mentioned that: (1) he planned to call Simone "a liar" during his closing argument; (2) without Duanne's testimony there would be no credible testimony that Duanne shot Jamal, Latisha and Brandon in self-defense; (3) he was not going to ask the jury to find self-defense; or (4) he was going to argue the Ecstasy defense despite Duanne's express objection. (R.227:242; App.162). Mitchell rested the defense without calling a single witness.

H. Closing statements.

During closing arguments, the State focused on proving 1st degree intentional and attempted homicide and on refuting the self-defense argument that Mitchell promised to make. It told the jury: "There is no testimony, no evidence whatsoever" that Brandon, Latisha, and Jamal went to Simone's apartment "for anything other than to talk to the defendant and the people that beat up [Rocky]." (R.275:13). "This isn't [a] case of people coming to a house with guns and [the defendant is] forced to defend himself. No." (R.275:14). Duanne "starts firing, first, at [Latisha] in the back. She goes down, then [Jamal]." (R.275:16). (Emphasis supplied). Brandon "gets shot as he's making a run for his life." (R.275:17)(Emphasis supplied).

"[T]his is not the good, the bad, and the ugly. This is not one person drawing first, ladies and gentlemen." (R.275:22). "The defendant obviously didn't see [a gun] if no one else did. So there

is no reason to shoot." (R.275:23). "This is not a case of self-defense. This is a case of Mr. Townsend being angry and pulling the gun and shooting three people." (R.275:23). The State told the jury 10 different times that this is not a "quick draw" or self-defense case. (R.275:13, 14, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27).

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