Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 1 of 32

#### **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN **10-03-2019** 

### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP787

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUANNE D. TOWNSEND,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A WIS. STAT. § 974.06 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH R. WALL, PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 20 of 32

*McCoy* does not meet the two requirements to qualify as a watershed rule of criminal procedure.

### a. *McCoy* fails the first requirement for watershed status.

Again, to meet the first requirement for watershed status, a new rule of criminal procedure must have "remedied 'an "impermissibly large risk" of an inaccurate conviction." Bockting, 549 U.S. at 418 (citation omitted). Because McCoy did not do so, it fails the first requirement for watershed status. It would be strange to view McCoy otherwise. A lawyer would unlikely concede his or her own client's guilt if there was a large chance that the defendant was innocent. See, e.g., Gordon, 262 Wis. 2d 380, ¶¶ 28–29 (collecting cases where lawyers conceded their clients' guilt when the State presented overwhelming evidence of guilt); see also Silva, 266 Wis. 2d 906, ¶ 20 (concluding that a lawyer reasonably conceded his client's guilt given the strength of the State's case). So, prohibiting a lawyer from admitting her client's guilt over the client's objection will not remedy an impermissibly large risk of an inaccurate conviction.

The *McCoy* decision itself supports this conclusion. The *McCoy* Court held that "[v]iolation of a defendant's Sixth Amendment-secured autonomy ranks as error of the kind our decisions have called 'structural'; when present, such an error is not subject to harmless-error review." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1511. The Court listed three rationales for why certain errors are deemed structural. The first rationale is "if the right at issue is *not designed to protect the defendant from erroneous conviction* but instead protects some other interest,' such as 'the fundamental legal principle that a defendant must be allowed to make his own choices about the proper way to protect his own liberty." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1511 (emphasis added) (citation omitted). The Court next said that "[a]n error might also count as structural [2] when its effects are too hard

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 21 of 32

to measure . . . or [3] where the error will inevitably signal fundamental unfairness." *Id.* The Court concluded that "[u]nder at least the *first two rationales*, counsel's admission of a client's guilt over the client's express objection is error structural in kind." *Id.* (emphasis added).

*McCoy* thus fails the first requirement for watershed status. The *McCoy* Court's structural-error holding was intended to protect a defendant's autonomy; it was "not designed to protect the defendant from erroneous conviction." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1511. So, the *McCoy* Court indicated that its holding was *not* meant to prevent inaccurate convictions at all, let alone an impermissibly large risk of them.

Because *McCoy* fails the first requirement for watershed status, it does not apply retroactively to Townsend's case.

# b. *McCoy* fails the second requirement for watershed status.

*McCoy* also fails the second requirement for watershed status. Again, "to meet this requirement, a new rule must itself constitute a previously unrecognized bedrock procedural element that is essential to the fairness of a proceeding." *Bockting*, 549 U.S. at 421.

The Supreme Court has found only one case to meet the non-retroactivity exception for watershed rules: the landmark decision in *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), which recognized a right to appointed counsel for indigent criminal defendants. *Bockting*, 549 U.S. at 419. "*Gideon* effected a profound and 'sweeping' change." *Id.* at 421 (citation omitted). The Supreme Court has "not hesitated to hold that less sweeping and fundamental rules' do not qualify" as watershed rules. *Id.* (citation omitted). The *Bockting* Court, for example, held that *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)—which changed the legal landscape for the Sixth Amendment right

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 22 of 32

to confront one's accusers—"is not in the same category with *Gideon*" and thus "does not fall within the *Teague* exception for watershed rules." *Bockting*, 549 U.S. at 421.

McCoy Court did not even say that its structural-error holding was designed to promote fairness. Again, the Court listed three rationales for labelling certain errors structural, it noted fairness as the third rationale, and it said that "at least the first two rationales" applied to a lawyer's concession of guilt over her client's objection. McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1511. When given the chance, the McCoy Court did not say that its holding was based on fairness. The McCoy decision is not a bedrock procedural rule that is essential to the fairness of a trial.

Indeed, courts around the country have held that McCoy does not apply retroactively. See, e.g., Elmore, 2019 WL 3423200, at \*10 (holding that "McCoy did not establish a new substantive rule of constitutional law in the Teague sense, nor is its holding a 'watershed' rule of criminal procedure"); Ex parte King, 2019 WL 1769023, at \*1 (holding that *McCoy* "is neither 'substantive' nor 'a "watershed" rule of criminal procedure in contemplation of Teague"); Johnson v. Ryan, No. CV-18-00889-PHX-DWL, 2019 WL 1227179, at \*2 (D. Ariz. Mar. 15, 2019) (holding that "McCoy didn't announce a watershed rule of criminal procedure, so it doesn't apply retroactively"); see also Commonwealth v. Manus, No. 2847 EDA 2018, 2019 WL 2598179, at \*3 (Pa. Super. Ct. June 25, 2019) (noting that the "appellant has failed to establish that the McCoy decision applies retroactively to cases on collateral review" (formatting omitted)); Commonwealth v. Steward, No. 3196 EDA 2018, 2019 WL 1388184, at \*2 (Pa. Super. Ct. Mar. 27, 2019) (noting that the "[a]ppellant has not established that the [McCoy] Court held the decision applies retroactively to cases on collateral review").

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 23 of 32

In sum, Townsend's *McCoy* claim fails because that decision does not apply retroactively here.

### II. Townsend is barred from relitigating the claims from his direct appeal.

"Successive, and often reformulated, claims clog the court system and waste judicial resources." State ex rel. Macemon v. Christie, 216 Wis. 2d 337, 343, 576 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1998). This Court has addressed that problem by holding that "[a] matter once litigated may not be relitigated in a subsequent postconviction proceeding no matter how artfully the defendant may rephrase the issue." State v. Witkowski, 163 Wis. 2d 985, 990, 473 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1991) (citing State v. Kern, 442 N.W.2d 381, 382 (Neb. 1989)). The Witkowski court noted that "[o]ther courts have reached the same result where defendants attempted to apply new 'theories' to matters previously litigated." Id. (citing Price v. State, 779 S.W.2d 6, 7 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989); Commonwealth v. Curtin, 529 A.2d 1130, 1132 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1987)). It concluded that the defendant's motion under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 was barred under those principles because "he has simply rephrased—or re-theorized—the matters raised in his first appeal." *Id*.

The *Witkowski* bar against relitigating or rephrasing claims for postconviction relief is well-established in Wisconsin. This Court has "repeatedly" applied the holding of *Witkowski*. *Washington*, 343 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 30; *see also, e.g., State v. Crockett*, 2001 WI App 235, ¶¶ 12, 15, 248 Wis. 2d 120, 635 N.W.2d 673 (finding relitigated claims barred under *Witkowski* despite defendant's rephrasing of one claim).

Townsend's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are barred under *Witkowski*. In his direct appeal, Townsend argued that his trial counsel was ineffective in several ways and that he was entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. (R. 207:6–12.) In this collateral attack under Wis.

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 24 of 32

Stat. § 974.06, Townsend tries to relitigate those claims by repackaging them as claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel. (Townsend's Br. 24–38.) Townsend cannot do so.

"An appellant cannot obtain post-conviction review of claims previously litigated on appeal by alleging ineffective assistance of prior counsel and presenting new theories of relief to support previously litigated claims." Commonwealth v. Whitney, 708 A.2d 471, 476 (Pa. 1998). In other words, "[t]hat post-conviction counsel raises the claims in a different posture than that raised on direct appeal is not grounds for reasserting the claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel." Davis v. State, 123 P.3d 243, 248 (Okla. Crim. App. 2005) (alteration in original) (quoting Turrentine v. State, 965 P.2d 985, 989 (Okla. Crim. App. 1998)). "Just because post-conviction counsel has the benefit of reviewing appellate counsel's brief on direct appeal, and with the benefit of hindsight, envisions a new method of presenting the arguments is not a legal basis for disregard of the procedural bar [against relitigating claims]." Turrentine, 965 P.2d at 989.

Other courts have similarly held that claims from direct appeal cannot be repackaged as claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. See, e.g., State v. Lee, 181 So. 3d 631, 638 (La. 2015) ("A petitioner's attempt to re-litigate a claim that has been previously disposed of, by couching it as a post-conviction ineffective assistance of counsel claim, is generally unavailing."); Sireci v. State, 469 So. 2d 119, 120 (Fla. 1985) ("Claims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel."). In a Second Circuit case, for example, a defendant was barred from rephrasing a claim from his direct appeal as a claim of appellate counsel ineffectiveness. Underwood v. United States, 15 F.3d 16, 18 (2d Cir. 1993). Relying on the

distinction between raising a new claim and relitigating a prior claim, the court noted that the defendant's "claim of ineffective assistance is based upon his counsel's failure to cite a single case rather than failure to raise an issue entirely." *Id*.

In just one conclusory paragraph, Townsend argues that his claims of ineffective assistance are not barred under Witkowski. He asserts that his "§974.06 motion did not reassert or repackage claims from his direct appeal. He argued that *postconviction counsel* was ineffective in how he presented [Townsend's] §809.30 postconviction claims." (Townsend's Br. 37.) That's repackaging. Townsend is retheorizing the claims from his direct appeal by arguing that his lawyer ineffectively raised those claims during the direct appeal. (See Townsend's Br. 24–38.) The heading of this section of Townsend's brief tellingly reads: "[Townsend] is entitled to a new trial or an evidentiary hearing on the claims that [appellate counsel] presented ineffectively." (Townsend's Br. 24 (formatting altered).) So, Townsend is once again seeking a new trial on the grounds of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and in the interest of justice. He is repackaging those claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel. He may not do so.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> If Townsend were to prevail in this appeal, he would need to have an evidentiary hearing under *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979), before he could get a new trial on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel. When a circuit court denies a postconviction motion without a hearing, the issue on appeal is whether the defendant is entitled to a hearing. *State v. Sholar*, 2018 WI 53, ¶ 51, 381 Wis. 2d 560, 912 N.W.2d 89. "A *Machner* hearing is required before a court may conclude a defendant received ineffective assistance." *Id.* ¶ 53. So, unless the State concedes error, a defendant may not receive relief on an ineffective assistance claim before receiving a *Machner* hearing. *State ex rel. Panama v. Hepp*, 2008 WI App 146, ¶ 22, 314 Wis. 2d 112, 758 N.W.2d 806.

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 26 of 32

In short, Townsend "is merely 'attempt[ing] to rephrase or re-theorize his previously-litigated challenge,' as prohibited by *Witkowski*." *Washington*, 343 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 30 n.17 (alteration in original) (quoting *Witkowski*, 163 Wis. 2d at 992).

## III. Townsend's request for postconviction discovery of Latisha's medical records is procedurally barred and meritless.

Townsend's final ground for relief is a postconviction discovery claim: he seeks access to Latisha's medical records to show that he shot her twice in the chest, not three times in the back and one time in the side as she testified at trial. (Townsend's Br. 38–42.) This claim is procedurally barred and meritless.

### A. Townsend's discovery request is procedurally barred.

A claim for postconviction discovery is procedurally barred unless a defendant shows a sufficient reason for why he did not raise the claim in an earlier postconviction motion or appeal. See State v. Kletzien, 2011 WI App 22, ¶¶ 11, 15–17, 331 Wis. 2d 640, 794 N.W.2d 920. In his motion for postconviction discovery, Townsend alleged that postconviction counsel was ineffective by not raising this discovery claim on direct appeal. (R. 229:5.)

"In some instances, ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel may be a sufficient reason for failing to raise an available claim in an earlier motion or on direct appeal." Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 36. A defendant who asserts ineffective assistance must show that (1) counsel performed deficiently and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

Case 2019AP000787 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-03-2019 Page 27 of 32

"[A]ppellate counsel's performance is deficient under *Strickland* only if she fails to argue an issue that is both 'obvious' and 'clearly stronger' than the issues actually raised." *Makiel v. Butler*, 782 F.3d 882, 898 (7th Cir. 2015) (citations omitted). So, "a defendant who alleges in a § 974.06 motion that his postconviction counsel was ineffective for failing to bring certain viable claims must demonstrate that the claims he wishes to bring are clearly stronger than the claims postconviction counsel actually brought." *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 4. And the defendant must show that the claim that postconviction counsel failed to raise is "obvious and very strong" and "the failure to raise [the issue] cannot be explained or justified." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 69, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

Significantly, "if the defendant fails to allege why and how his postconviction counsel was constitutionally ineffective—that is, if the defendant asserts a mere conclusory allegation that his counsel was ineffective—his 'reason' is not sufficient." *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 36. To avoid being "conclusory," a defendant's motion "must say why the claim he wanted raised was clearly stronger than the claims actually raised." *Id.* ¶ 62.

Townsend's request for Latisha's medical records is procedurally barred under those principles. His motion for postconviction discovery offered only a conclusory allegation that postconviction counsel was ineffective by not raising this issue on direct appeal. (R. 229:5.) Townsend's motion did not apply, or even acknowledge, the "clearly stronger" standard. (R. 229:5.) Because Townsend's only purported "sufficient reason" was just a conclusory allegation, his discovery request

is procedurally barred under *Kletzien*, 331 Wis. 2d 640,  $\P\P$  11, 15–17.

### B. Further, Townsend's discovery claim is meritless (and thus procedurally barred).

In any event, Townsend's postconviction counsel was effective by forgoing this discovery request because it is meritless or at least not clearly stronger than the claims that counsel raised. Because postconviction counsel was effective, Townsend lacks a sufficient reason for failing to raise this discovery claim on direct appeal. This claim is therefore procedurally barred under *Kletzien*.

"[A] defendant has a right to post-conviction discovery when the sought-after evidence is consequential to the case." State v. O'Brien, 223 Wis. 2d 303, 323, 588 N.W.2d 8 (1999). "[E] vidence is [consequential] only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 320–21 (alterations in original) (footnote omitted) (citation omitted).

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